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APPRECIATION

L1FE in the American Colony of Jerusalem during the last decade
was tranquil although surrounded by political turmoil. Our consuls
were friendly. Religious leaders understood us better. Perhaps we had
become less of an enigma, and perhaps Jerusalem had changed. Mod-
ern Jerusalem accepted us at our value. The old stories cropped up
now and then, but were turned aside with oh-that-used-to-be looks,
which hurt worse than accusations when one thought of the robust
Christianity of the Colony’s founders which allowed “no room for self-
pity,” as Mother expressed it, at the most crucial moment of her life.

It was during this time that I began work on the record of my par-
ents’ experiences in Jerusalem and elsewhere which would serve as a
record for my children and grandchildren. I have taken five years
writing it, part of which was done while we were under fire in the
recent war against the partition of Palestine. Preceding this I had
worked for fifteen years gathering material incorporated in its writ-
ing, and for such contributed data, letters and memoirs, newspaper
accounts and testimonials, legal, ecclesiastical and historic, I am in-
debted to more friends in the United States, the Holy Land, and
England than I have space to acknowledge, but whose kindness and
interest have contributed greatly to this account of our lives in Amer-
ica and Jerusalem.

I should like to express my public appreciation to Mr. Lowell
Thomas, author, lecturer, and radio commentator, whose friendship
over many years has meant much to the American Colony in Jerusalem
and to me, and who was the first to suggest that I turn into a book my
private family record by which others might see the Holy City as it has
seemed to us for nearly seventy years.

To Dr. Millar Burrows, Winkley Professor of Biblical Theology at
the Divinity School of Yale University and late Director of the Ameri-
can School of Oriental Research in Jerusalem, I am deeply grateful
for whole-hearted encouragement and advice.

My gratitude is also extended to the Rev. Charles T. Bridgeman, at
present connected with Trinity Church, New York, formerly Canon
of St. George’s Cathedral in Jerusalem, who has given unstintedly of
his twenty years’ experience in Palestine, particularly in church mat-
ters.

I also wish to thank Miss Evelyn Wells for her help.

BERTHA SPAFFORD VESTER
vii






INTRODUCTION By Lowell Thomas

For years my wanderings took me to many parts of the world.
In the course of these travels I met a fair proportion of the unusual
personalities of our time—statesmen, explorers, soldiers, scientists,
missionaries, writers, mining men, merchants, and artists. When a
traveler thinks of mountain ranges, certain peaks stand out in his
mind—XKinchinjunga in the Himalayas; Aconcagua in the Andes;
Saint Elias and McKinley in Alaska; Demavend in Persia; Chomolari
in Tibet; Rainjer in the Puget Sound country; Mount Washington in
New England, and a dozen more in various lands. Looking back on the
people I have met, a few are like the mountains I have mentioned.
One of these is the author of this book.

Of all the remarkable personalities I have known, Bertha Vester is
one of the few that I have envied.

To me Jerusalem is the most dramatic of the cities of this earth,
more so even than Athens, Rome or Paris. And Bertha Vester is the
only outstanding person who has lived there, both as an observer and
a participant in events, under the Turkish sultans, through World War
I, the period of the Mandate, a second world war, and finally the
period of the return of the Children of Israel. What a panorama!

Since the days when Dr. John Finley, famous editor of the New
York Times, and I, first met her in Jerusalem, I have been urging her
to write the story of her life. For thirty years I have conducted this
campaign, in person and by correspondence. Always she was too busy
with her social-service work in the Holy City, too involved with her
educational problems and with trying to save children from disease
and starvation. She is a modern Florence Nightingale, with a more
colorful and romantic story. Through three generations she has been
a central figure in the life of the city that is sacred to three great reli-
gions, Judaism, Christianity, and Mohammedanism.

It was a sheet from one of her hospital beds that provided the white
flag used at the surrender of Jerusalem when, in 1917, a Christian
army entered the Holy City for the first time in nearly a thousand
years. Although called the City of Peace, Jerusalem has nearly always
been a city of violence. As one of the few Protestants in Jerusalem,
she has had a unique opportunity to watch the pageant of history un-
roll. Nearly all other prominent personalities who have spent any time
at all in that city atop the Judean Hills “aloof, waterless, and on the

ix



X INTRODUCTION

road to nowhere,” have been on either one side or the other in some
bitter struggle. As a social-service worker, Bertha Vester has been
unique in the sixty-five years of her life in the Holy City.

I haven’t read her manuscript. Therefore I know little of her at-
titude toward recent events. But I do know that in times when emo-
tions run high partisans on either side invariably say: “Well, if you
are not for us, you must be against us.” However, that sort of charge
should never be made about either an honest reporter or social worker.

During the hottest part of the recent fighting between the Jews
and the Moslem inhabitants Mrs. Vester found herself in a dilemma.
One of the elderly members of the American Colony had died during
the night. The battle was raging across the road between Ms.
Vester’s home and the cemetery on the Mount of Olives. However,
she solved this problem. She got in touch with the officers in com-
mand on both sides and asked them if they would be good enough
to stop the battle for two hours. They did. She buried the aged mem-
ber of the American Colony on the Mount of Olives, and then the
fighting began again.

On another occasion, in 1947, some of the Arab forces took up
positions around Mrs. Vester’s house and in the compound of the
American Colony. From there they were firing on a Jewish convoy
that apparently was on its way to Hadassah Hospital. She told them
that she would not allow it. They could shoot her if they wished, but
as far as it was within her power she would not allow an attack to be
made upon anyone from the American Colony which for more than
sixty years had kept its doors open to Moslem, Christian, and Jew.
She told them: “To fire from the shelter of the American Colony is
the same as firing from a mosque or church.”

I remember Field Marshal Lord Allenby’s admiration for her, of
how highly she was regarded by T. E. Lawrence, of her close friend-
ship with John Finley when she helped him with his Red Cross work
in the Holy City. I have sat spellbound at her feet, in Jerusalem, lis-
tening to her tell of her adventures. And I have long admired her un-
selfish devotion to the inhabitants of the Holy City, to all of its many
races and creeds. Hers is indeed one of the epic stories of our time.
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CHAPTER ONE

A rFew months before the Great Chicago Fire, Father came to
the conclusion that the law, while highly remunerative, was absorb-
ing too much of his time.

He had no idea of giving up his practice. He was senior partner
in the prominent and influential Chicago firm of Spafford, McDaid
and Wilson, and was considered an authority on national as well as
international law. “Horatio Spafford lives in jurisprudence,” Mr.
Luther Laflin Mills, one-time states attorney for Illinois, once told
me. “We still say in Chicago, “That’s a Spafford case!’ or, ‘That be-
longs to the Spafford school of law.” ”

But Father became convinced that dealing in real estate would
give him opportunity to achieve honorable success without being
wholly engrossed by it and also give him more time to devote his
attention to philanthropic and Christian work, particularly that being
started by his close friend the evangelist, Mr. Dwight L. Moody.

With this idea in mind, in the spring of 1871 Father, with several
of his friends, invested in land in the direction of which the city of
Chicago was expanding—land which is now part of Lincoln Park—
and other extensive tracts north of the city, on the Lake Shore.

They put all their available money, and borrowed more to enlarge
their holdings, into this project that seemed sound.

At this time he and Mother were living in the suburb of Lake
View, on the north side of Chicago, in a vine-covered gabled cottage
surrounded by twelve acres of lawn. They had four little daughters. I
think of these children as my “little sisters” although this was before
I was born. Anna, named for our mother, was nine. Margaret Lee,
aged seven, was named after Father’s favorite sister, whose husband,
Colonel Arthur T. Lee, had been seriously wounded in the Battle of
Gettysburg a few weeks before Maggie was born. Elizabeth, called
Bessie, was five, and in July the fourth little girl was born and named
Tanetta for our grandmother, who came from Norway and died when
Mother was a little girl.

Lake View was some distance from the city limits, but the family
were sublimely happy in their isolation. Their nearest neighbors were
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Mr. and Mrs. Henry Waller, whose residence in rolling lawns, similar
to their own, inspired Chicago’s beloved poet Eugene Field to write
“The Delectable Ballad of the Waller Lot.”

Every day Father went to his law office in the city and was driven
to and from the little station by Peter the houseman in a buggy drawn
by old Billy the horse.

A narrow-gauge steam train, known as “The Dummy,” carried
commuters in and out of Chicago. There were no telephones, and
when Father brought dinner guests home, as he often did, there was
no way of letting Mother know beforehand. Since the last “Dummy”
left early in the evening, a dinner guest usually meant one staying
overnight.

Father and Mother drew devoted friends about them who shared
the joys of their home life and who in the years to come gave them
the love and devotion that sustained them in dreadful sorrow. Also,
to the Lake View cottage came the weary of body and soul, for my
parents were incapable of denying any share of their worldly goods
or happiness to anyone who might be in need.

Martha Pirkens Halsey wrote in an article:

One of the most attractive places in the old township of Lake View in
the seventies was a residence—ivy-hung and tree-embowered—that
seemed in its surroundings the chosen abode of peace and happiness.
The house, a picturesque, irregularly shaped cottage, not far from the
Lake Shore, displayed in each nook and cormer a rare taste and refine-
ment. Grace, simplicity, and beauty everywhere prevailed. . . .

This was the home of my father and mother, Horatio Gates Spaf-
ford and Anna Lawson Spafford, who were to become the founders
of the American Colony in Jerusalem.

The love and faith in that cottage were to cross the Atlantic and
become incorporated in the American Colony. Also in the Colony
was to go such strangely unrelated events as the Great Chicago Fire,
the Moody and Sanky religious revival that was shortly to sweep two
continents with unprecedented spiritual fervor, and the shipwreck of
the Ville du Havre that is still one of the unexplained tragedies of the
sea.

All that summer and fall of 1871 an unusual degree of heat pre-
vailed in Chicago, and the rainfall was so slight as to give scientists
cause for much speculation. Forest fires of extraordinary extent
ravaged the Northwest, destroying the vegetation and even whole
communities, especially around the southern border of the Great
Lakes. Early in the fall high southwest winds began blowing and
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continued for weeks, parching the prairies near Chicago and every
piece of timber within and around the city.

During the first weeks of October there was a continual succession
of small fires in the city.

Father was in Indiana interviewing a prospective purchaser for
some of the Lake Shore property. He was there on October 8, 1871,
when the knell of desolation sounded across the American continent
in gigantic headlines:

CHICAGO IN ASHES

THE GREAT CALAMITY OF THE AGE
THE SOUTH, THE NORTH, AND A PORTION OF THE
WEST DIVISIONS OF THE CITY IN RUINS

There was no more thought of a sale. Father’s only thought was
to rush back to Chicago.

Mother, left in the Lake View cottage with four small children,
three house servants, and Peter, the man of all work, was not alarmed
for their own safety in the beginning. As she watched from the porch
of the cottage she could see Chicago rising like a pillar of fire in the
night. Lake View lay well outside the city, still the stretch of forest
between was tinder-dry after the long, hot summer. The glare light-
ing lake and sky was terrifying, and adding to the terror were the
explosions that continued to shake the burning city for days and that
could be heard for many miles.

Chicago, roused from sleep, was trying to escape from itself.

Torrents of people were fleeing its blazing streets and struggling
over flaming bridges to the country. Tragedy piled on tragedy in the
stricken city.

As mile after mile of wooden buildings, homes, stores, and side-
walks caught fire, the glaring illumination showed a city gone mad
with terror. Crowds of men, women, and children ran first in one
direction, then in another, shouting and screaming, saving objects,
no matter how worthless, carrying them, losing them again. Every
explosion that shook the city added to their panic.

Drays, express wagons, handcarts, trucks, and every imaginable
conveyance was being driven pell-mell through the crowded streets,
laden with trunks, boxes, furniture, goods, and papers of every kind.
Collisions happened every minute. Wagons broke down and impeded
traffic, causing frantic scenes. Hundreds were trying to drag trunks
along the sidewalks.

Truckmen were offered fabulous sums to carry people or goods.

Trucks drove along the streets with their loads blazing, and goods
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dragged into the streets from homes and stores, and piled there,
caught fire. One man told of “delicate ladies standing guard by their
rescued pianos” while crowds swept around them senselessly.

Many who were carrying bundles of prized possessions had to
abandon them, and the streets were strewn with valuables, oil paint-
ings, silver, books, musical instruments, toys, mirrors, and every con-
ceivable article.

One survivor told of an undertaker with an eye for business who
employed half-a-dozen boys, gave each a coffin, took a large ome
himself, and rushed his mournful stock across the Chicago River
Bridge. The coffins bobbing along above the heads of the crowd
without apparently any means of motivation was such an absurd
spectacle, the observer said later, that in spite of their ominous
portent he could not help laughing.

Word spread that the bridges over the Chicago River were burning
and all escape to north and west was cut away. The distracted crowds
passed the rumor, adding to the pandemonium in the streets. Women,
half-dressed, carrying babies and with other children clinging to
them, screamed and ran until trapped in the milling crowds. Passages
and sidewalks jammed, and people clawed at one another in self-
defense. Women and children were flung down and trampled by men
trying to save their goods or their lives.

Invalids lay helpless on mattresses on the sidewalks, wailing for
help.

One woman knelt in the street with her skirt in flames, holding a
crucifix before her while she prayed, and a runaway truck dashed
her to the ground.

In the running crowds hundreds of lost children screamed for their
parents. Families were separated, and many never came together
again, for unknown thousands lost their lives. Pet animals whimpered
their terror underfoot, hunting their masters.

In a city lawless with panic the brutality and horror of some of the
scenes were sickening.

Thieves and looters forced their way through the crowds to satisfy
avarice in streets lined with unclaimed treasure. Deserted saloons and
liquor stores were broken into, and shouting men brandished bottles
of whisky and champagne, Drunken boys reeled about carrying casks
of whisky, offering drinks to crowds of excited men. A survivor told
of seeing a little girl run screaming down a street with her long golden
hair on fire. A drunken man threw a glass of liquor over her, and the
child was covered with blue flame.

One man carried a blazing plank to a pile of costly furniture before
a magnificent residence and ignited it. Then he mounted a packing
box and screamed that this was the poor man’s opportunity.
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One ragamuffin lay dead under a fallen marble window ledge, with
white kid gloves on his hands and his pockets bursting with plunder.

Large-scale disaster is bound to bring the worst in human nature
to the surface. But also the noblest in man came to the fore. Many
gave their lives to save others in those dreadful hours. Men and
women perished trying to rescue invalids, children, and dumb ani-
mals. Strangers helped one another. Unknown heroes survived, and
others died, in the Great Chicago Fire.

Mother, watching from the porch at Lake View, knew there would
be refugees. '

The first arrived that morning. She was a perfect stranger to
Mother, and invalided, and she was to become Aunty Sims to the
family. She was delivered at the door on a spring mattress laid across
an express wagon, and she was to remain at Lake View for the rest
of her days, to be alternately a tower of strength and a thorn in
Mother’s side.

Through that day and the second night and on through the next
day Chicago continued to burn. Mother sent Peter astride old Billy,
the horse, to hunt for provisions. After he left, a handsome but sooty
carriage turned into the driveway filled with strange-looking people
in curious costumes. Who were these colored people, Mother won-
dered, then she recognized her dear friends, the Miller-Morgan
family, who were not colored but begrimed with soot and smoke and
clad in whatever they had found first when the Great Fire drove them
from their comfortable home.

Mary Miller had been one of Mother’s schoolmates at Dearborn
Seminary. Her husband, A. Halsey Miller, owned the large whole-
sale and retail jewelry store opposite the Chicago courthouse known
as the “Tiffany of the West.” With them were their two little children
and Mary’s mother, Mrs. Morgan. Her father had been separated
from them in flight.

For two days and a night, without food or rest, they had battled
their way through smoke, wind, and flames to Lake View.

Mr. Miller’s eyes had been badly seared with fire and he could not
see, so Mary had mounted the coachman’s seat and driven the horses
ahead of the flames to Lake View. She was wearing a dressing gown
over her nightdress and its hem was scorched and her bare feet blis-
tered. Even when she reached Lake View-she would not rest, for the
horses’ feet were badly burned, and Mary soaked their hoofs in hot
water and poulticed them before she would attend to her own
scorched feet. Years later she told me how Mother ordered food and
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beds prepared for them, and put compresses of tea leaves on Mr.
Miller’s burned eyes, and found a farmer’s wife near by with a child
of her own to nurse Mary’s four-month-old baby, for in the exodus
her milk had dried up.

Mrs. Morgan was wearing all the dresses she could wear, six in all.
“Fit for an asylum” was the way she described her appearance, but
she had saved the dresses.

No sooner did Mother have them all comfortable than Mr. Waller
came hurrying over to say trees near by had caught fire and he was
moving his family to a safer place.

Aunty Sims and the others were in no condition to be moved, and
Peter had not returned, but there was nothing to do but join the
flight. Mother left a note for Peter, telling him she did not know
where they were going. She and Mary reharnessed the Miller team
and, since there was no horse for her own buggy, she tied it to the
back of the Miller carriage with a stout rope. Into the buggy she
hoisted Aunty Sims, with Annie and Maggie, the two eldest little
girls; Bessie and baby Tanetta went into the carriage ahead with the
Morgans and the Millers. The tired, footsore horses had to pull the
double load, but they seemed to scent danger and were willing, even
eager, to be off.

The little caravan plodded up Graceland Road through the heavy
sand. Aimlessly they drove west, not knowing where to go. They
were no longer alone. They were trapped in a river of refugees drag-
ging their way ahead of flames that still raged in their wake, racing
west from flaming Chicago.

The roads were crowded with every kind of vehicle. Men and boys
pulled heavy loads or carried their old and ill. Women bore bundles
and babies, and there were even dogs with baskets in their mouths,
or drawing small wagons. And baby carriages! It seemed everyone
bad a baby. Little smudge-faced girls trudged through the ashen dust
clutching their dolls.

Many survivors of the Great Fire dwelt upon the terrifying roar
of the conflagration. Even more ominous, Mother said, was the
silence of the fleeing population of a doomed city.

On Graceland Road they overtook a lumber wagon driven by a
man Mother knew. She asked his advice as to where they should go.

“We live in Jefferson,” he told her. “You are welcome to my
home.”

On their arrival at the man’s house they found twenty other refu-
gees there ahead of them, the majority total strangers to their host.
But he and his kind wife did all they could to make them comfortable.

The next morning they drove back to Lake View and found it safe.
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Peter had proved the faithful servant, and, on returning to the house
and finding Mother gone, had worked all night with the garden hoses
keeping the roof of the cottage wet. The fire stopped at Fullerton
Avenue just in time to save the house and grounds.

Mary Miller and her husband returned to Chicago to hunt her
father. They found him safe. They also went to the Lake Shore,
where they had first fled with thousands of other refugees, until the
sands grew too hot to bear. They had buried several trunks con-
taining jewelry, fine laces, furs, and wearing apparel, in the sand
before leaving, and their coachman deserted them there. Later they
heard that the faithless coachman was living with a woman who
decked herself with their fine clothes, jewelry, laces, and furs.

All through the flight Mary had jealously guarded a heavy valise
which she believed contained their choicest valuables but which,
when she opened it at Lake View, was found to contain nothing but
old shoes. Many in their excitement rescued heavy packages only to
find what they had saved with so much effort was utterly worthless.

I do not think the Millers grieved too much over their losses. All
their lives were safe, and possessions, contrasted with life, lose their
value.

Father and Mother felt the same way.

Father had returned to a city of desolation. His friend General
William Bross, who with Mr. Joseph Medill and Mr. Horace White
published the Chicago Tribune, and who had fought to save the news-
paper in the very heart of the holocaust, wrote of the fire:

It was destruction of the entire business portion of one of the greatest
cities in the world. Every bank, insurance office, law office, hotel, theater,
railroad, most of the churches and many of the principal residences of
the city—a charred mass—property almost beyond estimation gone!

His partner Mr. Medill, seeing the Tribune office doomed, sought
and purchased a job printing office on the west side that had escaped
damage, and collected type and printers. General Bross recounts with
amusement how he who two days before might have offered a note
for $100,000 anywhere and had it accepted, and whose fortune was
now buried under ashes in a bank vault, could not even get four
wood-burning stoves on credit, to heat the new plant. Eventually, by
asking ten of his friends, he was able to borrow enough money to
buy the stoves. .

The next day the Tribune came out with a half sheet, containing
the sad news of the disaster, and a notice that a lost persons’ bureau
had been opened.
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Notices were printed:

Mrs. Bush is at 40 Arnold Street. She has lost her baby.

A little girl—she cannot speak her name—is at Des Plaines Hotel.
Mrs. Tinney’s lost little girl, six years old, Katy, is at Harrison House.

Mr. Medill, when he died, left his large estate in equal shares to
his two daughters and the Tribune stock in trust to their husbands,
Mr. Robert W. Patterson and Mr. Robert Sanderson McCormick, a
cousin of the Cyrus H. McCormick who brought the Theological
Seminary to Chicago.

Colonel Robert Rutherford McCormick, son of Robert McCormick
and grandson of Mr. Medill, later became editor in chief of the Trib-
une and a picturesque figure of world renown. When Lord North-
cliffe, the English newspaper publisher, visited me in my home in
Jerusalem, learning that I was bom in Chicago, asked if I knew
Colonel McCormick. “An extraordinary man,” he described him. I
am afraid my prestige was lowered when I had to admit I had not the
pleasure of his personal acquaintance, although my parents had been
friendly with his grandparents, Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Medill. During
the Civil War Mrs. Medill and Mother had been active in the Sanitary
Commission, which became the Red Cross, and later Mrs. Medill was
identified with the Soldiers’ Home in which my parents took an active
interest. After the Chicago Fire Mr. and Mrs. Medill worked on the
same relief and aid societies with Father and Mother.

The Bross family have also kept up their interests in the Tribune.
General Bross’s daughter Jessie, one of Mother’s former schoolmates,
married Dr. Henry D. Lloyd when he was a reporter on the Tribune.
Their son, Dr. Henry Lloyd, Junior, still owns an interest in the
Tribune, and owing to his mother’s lifelong friendship with Mother,
has been a true friend to the American Colony in Jerusalem.

For a time there were sleepless nights for the survivors of stricken
Chicago. With no street lamps, and ‘“vagabonds and cutthroats flown
like vultures from every point of the compass, attracted by the scent
of plunder,” only those with urgent business dared venture out of
doors.

Evidently Chicago was again under fire from critics within a short
time, for I find the draft of a resolution in Father’s handwriting which
must have been prepared for a citizens’ meeting soon after the Fire:

Resolved, that while we recognize that the temporary confusion and
the unparalleled increase of population, and other results proceeding
from the fire, have produced an increase of crime in Chicago, that we
altogether deny that any such state of things is here existing as controls
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New York under the Tammany Ring, or which led San Francisco to the
appointment of a vigilance committee in our local and state judiciary
and in the sufficiency of usual and strictly legal methods for the arrest,
conviction, and punishment of all criminals and the suppression of
crime. .

The Great Fire was a crushing misfortune to nearly every inhabi-
tant of Chicago. To Father and his associates in the real estate
venture it was a calamity. Who at such a time could think of enlarg-
ing parks or expanding the city? But interest on the borrowed money
had to be paid. Father’s law library and adjoining law office in the
city, built up with so much expense and pride, were in ashes. Only
the contents of a fireproof safe were found and among them, charred
and brittle from heat, was a little notebook that has revealed to me
much of my parents’ lives in these years before 1 was born.

Father rejoiced that his wife and children were with him and that
the beloved Lake View cottage, although it would have to carry a
small mortgage, was still their own.



CHAPTER TWO

WHEN my father was still a schoolboy he met with an expe-
rience that changed his entire life.

He was home on a holiday in the handsome and historic house in
which he was born on October 20, 1828, and which still stands, hid-
den away in what has become an obscure section of North Troy, New
York. His father, Horatio Gates Spafford, Senior, LL.D., was a his-
torian and horticulturist, well-respected and well-to-do.

Father’s family originated in Yorkshire, England, and is listed in
Domesday Book, the world’s first survey of lands. Succeeding genera-
tions were known as possessors of “yeomen, meadow and wood
pastures”; many bore titles, and others occupied positions of influ-
ence in Church and State. The ruins of Spofforth Castle in Yorkshire
are impressive and contain a large hall that must have been mag-
nificent.

On Spofford Hill, near Georgetown, Massachusetts, a boulder of
native granite bears this inscription:

ON THIS HILL IN 1669
JOHN SPOFFORD

DESCENDANT OF ORME AND OF CAMELBAR
OF SPOFFORD, ENGLAND, WITH HIS WIFE,

ELIZABETH SCOTT

FOUNDED THE RACE OF SPOFFORD IN
AMERICA. A RACE RESPECTED FOR
INTEGRITY, COURAGE, GENEROSITY

AND INTELLIGENCE

This first Spafford, Spofford, or Spofforth, to settle in the New
World evidently arrived in 1739 with the Rev. Ezekial Rogers.

Father’s early life was comfortable and secure. He attended the
best schools and won many prizes. He was an avid writer of poetry,
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many of the poems dealing with the heavenly galaxies. In them he
referred to the night sky as “always overcast.”

One evening, with a school friend who was visiting him, he was
standing on the porch of his home when his friend spoke of the bril-
liant stars.

Father challenged him at once. Here was his chance, Father said,
to speak freely on a subject that was a sore point with him.

“Now, Charlie,” he said, “be candid. Be honest. Do you really see
enough beauty up there to warrant your outburst?”

His friend stared at Father.

“Horatio, I believe you are nearsighted!” Charlie exclaimed, and,
taking off his own glasses, made Horatio put them on.

Father’s joy at discovering the night sky in all its beauty is revealed
in a poem published in Wellman’s Magazine in April 1850:

NIGHT

Ye countless stars that tremble in the sky,
How bright and beautiful are you tonight!
I've known ye long, but never did my eye
So burn beneath the glory of your light
As it doth now; I kneel to ye—ye wear
The impress of the Deity that’s there.

There is a spirit in the night that talks

To man, as man cannot. There seems to speak
A voice to him from out the depths. There walks
Amid its glowing halls a form that seeks
Communion with him—a pervading soul

That lives and breathes, and animates the whole.

How my whole being worships ye, ye skies!

How Godlike is illimitable space!

I see in every flashing ray that flies

Throbbing from forth your lights, the peaceful face
And aspect of divinity. Ye stand

As when first flung from the Creator’s hand.

Ye are unchanged—the ceaseless lapse of years
Dims not your brightness—since the world began
And ye were summoned forth, the arch that rears
Proud and magnificent its giant span

Filling immensity—as now—has stood.

’Twill stand with time—eternity is God.

In later years, after Father had entered on his evangelistic career
with Mr. Moody, he often used this experience to illustrate the
illumination of spiritual vision on becoming a Christian.
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Before his vision was corrected Father had been a rather retiring
boy. As a young man he was sociable and popular. He liked parties
and had many friends, he had a healthy love for outdoor sports and
games, and his love for music and literature grew with the years. His
hair was thick and dark, his eyes dark and deep-set, and because
bifocals had not yet been made, he had a way of focusing his atten-
tion upon those he met with more intensity than is usual with those
of normal vision.

Much of his poetry dealt with the lure of the West, and westward
he went, after admission to the bar. His West was not gold-bearing
California, but the Midwestern frontier. In 1856 he settled in Chicago
and began the practice of law.

He loved the freedom of the open and limitless prairies, the blue
of the skies and the blue of Lake Michigan, limitless, to human eyes,
as the prairies themselves. He felt the thrill of taking part in history
and the building of the West.

His name first appears in the Chicago directory of that year as a
boarder at Clifton House, at the corner of Madison Street and Wa-
bash Avenue, where lived so many of Chicago’s young bachelor set
who were to become famous in the business, political, philanthropic,
and scientific life of the budding young city.

There was even then a distinct line of demarcation between refined
Chicago society, and the hordes who flocked there because of the op-
portunities the city offered. Despite the “high life” and levity which

would give it such a strange reputation, there was, and still is, a
- serious and progressive element which dominates Chicago.

The year Father came to Chicago, when slavery was the burning
issue, this item appears in the Chicago Tribune of September 3:

On last Saturday the Republicans of Laporte, Indiana, had a rousing
meeting. Bonfires were lit and the greatest enthusiasm prevailed. The
principal speaker was H. G. Spafford of Chicago, who made a telling and
able address. .

Three years later the name of H. G. Spafford, Esq., Professor of
Medical Jurisprudence, was listed among the faculty names of the
newly organized department of Lind University, subsequently known
as the Chicago Medical College and the Medical Department of
Northwestern University. Father retained his interest in public mat-
ters and found opportunities to step outside the limits of his profes-
sion to make himself heard through speeches and other forms of
lecturing.

He also found time to teach a Sunday-school class, and it was in
this capacity, toward the end of Father’s first year in Chicago, that
he met the beautiful Norwegian girl who was to become my mother.
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When I was a little girl in Jerusalem Mother could hold me fasci-
nated with stories of her girlhood.

Mother was born in Stavanger, Norway, on March 16, 1842,
and baptized in the grand old Domkirke as Anna Tubena Larssen.
I have been told she was a lovely child, with flaxen hair and blue
eyes.

Her father, Lars Larssen, was a farmer and a skilled cabinetmaker,
well-respected in the community. I do not know why he migrated to
the United States with his family when Mother was four years old.
Like so many other Scandinavians, he came to Chicago, and eventu-
ally Americanized his name to Lawson.

Chicago was not then a healthy city. Lying as it did on swamp-
land, on the lower south shore of Lake Michigan, it was difficult to
drain, and was infested with mosquitoes. No one connected the
mosquitoes with the malaria, then called “ague fever,” that swept the
growing city at regular intervals.

When, because of these defects, an epidemic of cholera struck the
city, it spread until the greatest part of the population was afflicted.
Funerals were common in the streets, and Mother and the other
children, always imitative of their elders, made burials their most
popular game. She was the only member of the family who escaped
cholera when the dreaded epidemic reached the Lawson home.

Her gay, capable young mother, Tanetta, and baby brother Hans,
were most seriously stricken. My mother was sent to and from the
drugstore for medicine and brandy. As she hurried through the de-
serted streets she heard on all sides the groans of Chicago’s sick and
dying. She was only seven years old, but she knew to the full the taste
of human despair.

Her mother and baby brother died in the epidemic. Her father, it
was discovered, was threatened with tuberculosis. With her half-
brother Edward, he moved to Goodhue County, Minnesota, in the
hope that farming might benefit his health.

My mother was left in Chicago with a friend, Mrs. Ely. She loved
this kind foster mother and was happy in her schoolwork and most of
all in her music. But she could not remain in Chicago when she
learned her father was ill and in need of her.

Mother, at fourteen, found herself keeping house for her father
and brother in an unfinished log house in a wild, unsettled section of
Minnesota. Wolves howled near by in the forest. Massacres and
scalpings were not infrequent, and there were always rumors of
prowling Indians. The nearest neighbor was seven miles away.

Pioneer living brought out latent qualities in the young girl. She
worked every day until her strong young back ached, cooking, wash-~
ing, milking the cow, tending the chickens, and nursing her father.
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When he died, the two young people were alone in the cabin.

Settlers from miles around came and helped make a coffin of the
new lumber Lawson had bought to finish his home. Edward stained
it outside, to make it look as nice as possible, and my mother lined
and padded it with straw covered with a white linen sheet. There
were no flowers, but the children brought in fragrant branches of fir
and laurel, and wove wreaths for their father’s grave.

Mother thought it best to return to Chicago at the first opportunity.
A few weeks later she heard that the pastor son of one of the Nor-
wegian settlers was coming to visit his family. While there he arranged
to hold a service to which the scattered settlers were invited. He
planned to leave directly after this service, and he consented to take
Mother with him across the country to the nearest railroad station,
where she could entrain for Chicago.

Edward drove his sister to the farm where the pastor was staying,
along with the trunk that contained all her worldly belongings. He
left as soon as his horses were rested, for there were cows to be
milked and chickens to be fed at home. Mother walked along the
road beside the wagon until he advised her to turn back.

Edward lived on the farm to a ripe old age, surrounded by children
and grandchildren.

But after my mother sadly watched him vanish around a turn in
the road that day she never saw her brother again.

She turned back to the farm where the pastor was staying to find
the barnyard filled with strange horses and oxen and vehicles of every
make drawn up before the house. The settlers had been asked to a
service conducted by a real pastor and were treating the occasion like
a festival.

Scandinavians are innately religious, but living as these Norwe-
gians did, miles from one another and on the outskirts of civilization,
they could rarely attend congregational services, and the celebration
of Holy Communion and baptism was possible only when a visiting
pastor came their way. Their enthusiasm was great and sincere. Each
family had brought food to contribute to the board, and the women
were bustling about, arranging the long tables the men set up, and
in excited Norwegian catching up with the news and gossip of the
frontier.

My mother’s troubled heart had no room for festivity. She was
different even in speech, for she now spoke English far better than
she did Norwegian.

Deeper than these differences was another, because of something
that happened to her in Chicago when she was very young. This was
an unfortunate experience with a so-called Christian, outwardly a



OUR JERUSALEM 15

church pillar, inwardly mean. She had seen this person behave cruelly
to defenseless dependents who had no means of retaliation. She her-
self had been subjected to his petty tyranny.

As so many others have before her, she blamed Christianity in-
~ stead of the individual.

Since that time she had not attended church or Sunday school. She
had not prayed.

After the services she heard the pastor agreeing to remain one
more week so that he could drive around the country and baptize
the infants born since the last pastor had been there.

It was too late to return to Edward and the farm. No one was
driving that way, and fear of wolves and Indians kept her from start-
ing out on foot alone.

The pastor drove off with departing guests, and my mother was
left with his family.

She found it consisted of a blind mother and a stepfather who
leered at her in a sinister way. The pair cooked, ate, slept in the one
enormous downstairs room, with a fireplace where the cooking was
done on cranes. The only other room was a dark and dirty attic into
which the blind woman led her.

In a corner Mother found a pile of straw. Worn out, she fell asleep.

She was wakened by something pawing her face and mumbling.
She could see nothing. She wanted to scream but could not. Then she
knew it was not an animal, for she caught incoherent mumbling in
Norwegian. She lay motionless, holding her breath, until the creature
shuffled away into another corner. She continued to lie on the straw,
stiff with cold and fear, after she heard it snoring in sleep.

Then Mother prayed.

“O God,” she cried in her misery, “deliver me, and I will never
be discontented again.”

Morning revealed a sleeping woman in the attic, looking more like
an animal than a human being. Mother learned that this was a de-
mented stepsister of the pastor’s. After breakfast the crazy girl ran
away into the woods, and there she remained until evening, when
hunger drove her back to the house and the plate of food set out for
her.

Mother felt that she could not endure another night in the attic.
But the man in the downstairs room made gestured overtures to her
under the blind eyes of his wife, and Mother was afraid. She returned
to the attic and her demented roommate.

The girl, she found, was not dangerous. Mother spoke to her and
showed her kindness, and the girl responded with a pathetic grati-
tude.

The week, Mother said, was spent in a veritable gehenna, but out
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of it came the resolve to reject despair which was to uphold her in
greater need.

Chicago, by contrast, was like a return to heaven. Mother’s half-
sister, Mrs. Rachel Frederickson, welcomed her, and she returned to
her beloved music and voice training. She attended Dearborn Semi-
nary and received tribute as a “brilliant scholar.” She made friends
who remained stanch all their lives. Among them was Mary Morgan,
who married A. Halsey Miller, and Bertha Madison, who married
Dr. Johnson and moved to Paris, and who was to be an angel of
mercy to Mother after the tragedy that was to change my parents’
lives. Jessie Bross, whose father was lieutenant governor of the state
of Illinois, was also a Dearborn girl, and her friendship with Mother
was very close.

Another school friend, Jenny Simpson, tried to persuade her to
attend Sunday school.

“Our Sunday-school teacher is different,” Jenny argued. “He does
not talk down to us. He gives us a chance to express our opinions,
and he loves an argument. Annie,” she begged, “it will do you good
to hear Mr. Spafford.”

Mother was only fifteen, but she had lived through much, and in
dignity and mentality was developed far beyond her years. One of
her friends wrote this description of her as she was then:

Your mother had the bluest of eyes, and abundant fair hair, with bean-
tifully molded mouth and chin, and very white and even teeth. Her ears
were so pretty they were often compared to seashells. She had a merry,
kind, and affectionate disposition that won the hearts of many people,
but she could be mischievous, too, with a keen sense of humor. Her
voice was lovely, and people predicted that when it was trained a great
future lay before her.

This was the young Annie Lawson who, worn down by argument,
consented to visit Horatio Spafford’s Sunday-school class “just once.”

Father was attracted immediately to the lovely young Norwegian
girl. After her visit to his Sunday-school class he could not get her
out of his mind. He remembered how she looked one straight in the
eye as she spoke, and how she had taken her part in his classroom
arguments in a surprisingly intelligent manner.

He did not realize that Mother was only fifteen. He was fourteen
years her senior, but the discrepancy was not apparent, for she
seemed his equal in years.

“That is an unusual girl,” he decided; “she must have had some
unique experience to be able to make such deep and searching com-
ments.”
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And he made up his mind to call on her sister, Mrs. Frederickson,
where he had learned Mother was staying, and find out for himself
who she was and what was the secret of her personality.

One year later he asked her to marry him.

Only then did he discover Mother’s real age. He realized she was
too young to marry, and it was arranged that she should leave her
sister’s home and for three years attend the Ferry Institute for Young
Ladies in Lake Forest, about twenty-eight miles from Chicago. It is
now known as Ferry Hall and a select school, as it was then.

Some years ago I visited Ferry Hall. I heard that the memory still
lived of Mother and the three years she spent there, and of the Bible
readings and discussion group she started while a student. I learned
that she was considered one of the school’s outstanding alumnae. I
was privileged to address the scholars and tell them of Mother’s life
after leaving, and of her work in America and Jerusalem.

After the talk we visited a house near by that had been one of the
dormitories in Mother’s day. On a windowpane in one of the rooms
was scratched a heart, and inside it the initials, HS-AL. No one re-
membered who had put them there, but the letters spoke volumes to
me. “Horatio Spafford-Anna Lawson.” Mother scratched them there
with her engagement ring.

She wrote a letter from this school to Mrs. Ely. It is dated Decem-
ber 6, 1860, and reads in part:

1 wish you were acquainted with Mr. Spafford. He is a true, noble
man. I owe him a great deal, but still would not marry him merely from -
gratitude.

I have often wondered what he could see in me to like, for I am so
simple and ignorant, while he is so strong and learned. I pray to God that
I may be worthy of him.

Father was considered one of the most promising young lawyers in
the city. He had family, social position, and money. Dowagers with
marriageable daughters resented his “picking up with a young girl
nobody knows, and foreign at that.”

They were married on September 5, 1861, in the Second Presby-
terian Church on the south side of Chicago. The young couple had
decided on a very quiet wedding. War was on between the North and
the South, and marriage in wartime must needs be simple. Announce-
ments were sent to all their acquaintances, but only a few were asked
to attend the ceremony.

Father invited only his closest friends to the church, and Mother
her sister and several friends, one of them being Mrs. Lawson, who
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had been her confidant through many vicissitudes since her mother’s
death, and whose son, the late Victor Lawson, was editor and owner
of the Chicago Daily News.

Mother's wedding dress was planned to be useful long after the
wedding day. It was a dark blue taffeta with a hooped skirt, tight
waist and overskirt, and with it she wore a small bonnet made of the
same dark material trimmed with tiny pink roses. Its turned-up brim
was lined with shirred pink chiffon, and Mother’s friends who saw
her coming down the aisle that day have told me she was lovely.

Much to the amazement of the bride and groom, they found the
church filled with smiling people. It had been beautifully decorated
with white flowers and ferns. This surprise meant much to the young
couple.

Flz'om the church they had driven straight to the house at Lake
View.

Chicago had grown since Father began his career there.

A fact not commonly realized is the tremendous momentum given
the city by Cyrus H. McCormick, inventor of the reaper that bears
his name, when he secured its patent and in 1845 built the first
McCormick factory on the site of the Du Sable and Kinzie cabin,
Chicago’s first homestead.

The advent of railroads and mechanical farming implements put
an end to Chicago’s isolation. By the time Lincoln became President,
Chicago was the crossroads of the continent and the exchange center
for thousands of miles of prairie harvestings, and the McCormick
factory was turning out more than 50,000 reapers a year.

Mr. McCormick, as more reapers sold and his wealth increased,
used his influence to advance the religious, educational, and mer-
cantile interests of expanding Chicago.

His offer in 1859 of one hundred thousand dollars to endow four
professorships in the failing New Albany Theological Seminary of
Indiana, on condition it was moved to Chicago, helped greatly in
bringing the school to Chicago under the amended name of The
Presbyterian Theological Seminary of the Northwest.

Father entered upon his duties with the seminary during its tur-
bulent period, when feeling ran high over the matter of the McCor-

He served as a director from 1867 to 1871 and from 1874 to
1876. He was a trustee from 1869 to 1870 and during that time
served as secretary to the board of trustees. -

He financed several scholarships which helped a number of stu-
dents through the seminary. Conspicuous among these was George G.
Stewart, class of 1879, who afterward became president of Auburn
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Theological Seminary in Auburn, New York, and whose son, George
Stewart, was twice acting president of the American University of
Beirut in Syria, otherwise, its treasurer.

Father had ardently supported Lincoln.

Mr. McCormick was Virginia born and his sympathies were
Southern.

His proffered endowment was for four chairs, of which only one,
that of theology, was to bear his name. Perhaps because of this there
was more argument over its occupancy than over any of the others.

Any candidate of abolitionist tendencies was opposed by Mr.
McCormick, who threatened to contest the board’s demands for the
final payments on his endowment fund.

The Chicago Daily Tribune of December 2, 1868, commented:

Mr. McCormick will not, if he can prevent it, permit any man, who
contributed by word or deed to the abolition of human slavery, to edu-
cate preachers of the Gospel.

By the time the General Assembly of the Presbyterian Church met
in Philadelphia in 1869 the division between the two factions was
so clearly marked that two different reports were sent in.

Criticisms were written and circulated. “White papers” of defense
were published and sent broadcast. Every religious paper of the
period contained articles on the subject.

Father was sent to Philadelphia as one of the majority group of
“new friends” of the seminary, to plead before the Assembly the
special cause: that those who had given most to the seminary wanted
to wield most authority in proportion to their gifts.

The opposing group of “old friends,” or McCormick faction, let
intimations go forth during the conclave that the properties Mr.
McCormick had set aside to pay the promised endowment were not
paying so well as heretofore, which would, they hinted, explain why
his promised donations had been withheld.

As soon as Father heard this, he telegraphed his friend Mr. Ker-
foot, a prominent real estate dealer in Chicago, to find out exactly
what the property brought in. When Father rose to make his speech
he held the answer in his hand—the property’s income was undimin-
ished. At one point he urged that Mr. McCormick be told either to
cease using his money as a means of bringing the institution to terms,
or to “cast it into the sea.”

The decision was reached by the General Assembly, according to
the History of McCormick Seminary by Halsey, by “releasing him
[Mr. McCormick] from the bond which he refuses to regard as bind-
ing, established a vastly momentous principle. The civil courts have
since, in defining and regulating trusts, acted upon the general prin-
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ciples of this ecclesiastical decision. A trust, like a prom.ise, must in
law and moral be interpreted as the maker understood it, and sup-
posed the one to whom it was made understood it.”

Terms were drawn up, recommending that “bygones be bygones,
and no further controversy respecting past issues be indulged in,
that Dr. Lord, opposed by Mr. McCormick, retain the chair, and that
Mr. McCormick be released from the fourth installment of his bond.”
Signed, “this third day of November, 1869, by D. C. Marquis and
H. G. Spafford.”

So the feud ended, and years later the handsome seminary in the
heart of Chicago took the McCormick name.

Through all the contentions and controversies Mr. McCormick
and Father continued to be the best of friends. ,

Father was a man of independent character, thought, and action.
" He made up his mind about what was right and acted according to
his conscience.

Cyrus McCormick was equally outspoken and independent. The
two men could radically differ in opinion, attack each other on dis-
puted questions, but otherwise respect each other.

The year before the Great Chicago Fire the famous “Noon Prayer
Meeting” was started in Chicago by Mr. Dwight L. Moody. Busi-
ness and professional men met every noon for a few minutes of de-
votional inspiration and rest. Father was helpful in getting it started.
He was a fervent believer in prayer. I have been told by Chicagoans
that it was owing to him that it got started, but I know Father would
be the last to accept such credit. It really was a spontaneous crying
out in many persons as the result of spiritual hunger.

The remarkable part is that the noon prayer meeting is still func-
tioning. ’

At this time Mr. Moody was in debt, selling shoes for his self-
support and preaching when he could spare the time. Father was one
of his supporters, and so was the head of the shoeshop. The manner
in which they helped pay Mr. Moody’s debts so that he could devote
his full time to preaching is revealed in Father’s notebook.

When my parents later took the decisive step and went to Jeru-
salem they left their home and all their possessions. Everything was
lost. A few letters, papers, and notebooks of only sentimental value
were all that were left of those early years in Chicago. It is from
these, remembered conversations with Father and Mother and their
friends, and pages in Father’s irregularly kept diary saved from the
Chicago Fire, that I have been able to present events and persons
that influenced my parents then. In the notebook, in Father’s hand-
writing, is a resolution, signed by himself and a number of his as-
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sociates, which explains how Mr. Moody got some of the money
which, as Mr. Moody says, “God made him steward of”’:

We, the undersigned, hereby agree to give during the year 1870 the
sum set opposite our names respectively towards the salary of Mr. D. L.
Moody. Such subscriptions to be paid in quarterly installments in ad-
vance, commencing Jan. 1st, 1870.

It is interesting to note that among the other contributors are the
names of Mr. C. M. Henderson, Mr. E. W. Blatchford, and Mr. S.
M. Moore.

Mr. Henderson was the proprietor of the wholesale boot and shoe
house where Mr. Moody was working, and from which he was now
being rescued.

Mzr. Blatchford was the father of Mrs. Howard Bliss, whose hus-
band was the second president of the American University of Beirut,
Lebanon, and of Edward Blatchford, who came to Jerusalem as .
representative of the Near East Relief after World War I and was
later attached to the Consulate General of the United States.

Mr. Moore was the father of Mrs. Gates, whose husband was for
many years the president of Robert College at Istanbul, Turkey.

I also have a long letter in Mr. Moody’s handwriting, written from
Dundee, Scotland, to Major Whittle, who handed it on to Father, as
part of it concerned him. Mr. Moody was expressing the hope that
Father could help Major Whittle settle his debts as he had helped
Mr. Moody settle his in 1870. The letter, written in Mr. Moody’s
fervid strain, and without a single mark of punctuation, reads in
part:

Dundee January 30th 1874
My pEAR WHITTLE
I am anxious to hear from you and to know your decision of the mat-
ter that Spafford was to see you about I sent $500 yesterday to Mr Hol-
den and if you decide to give up business you can have that at once that
will help you pay off some of your debts and if Spafford will take the
other 2500 the latter part of the year all right and if he cannot do it
without cramping him I will do so for five years My prayers have been
that you might be a free man like myself but I never could see how you
could do it until you got out of debt and how that was to be done I could
not tell but now I see it all launch out my brother into the dark God
has made me a steward at least of a little money and I can do as I please
with it . . . Remember me to my friends and tell them I would like to
see them especially Spafford and his dear wife I cannot tell you how I
love them Much [remember?] me to Cole I am so thankful God is using
him
Yours with a heart full of love
D. L. Mooby
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This letter and the notebook agreement give an idea of the close-
ness of the ties of friendship between Father and Mr. Moody and
the other evangelists who were associates at this time.

Father’s life was profoundly influenced by this early association
with Mr. Moody, and later Mr. Ira D. Sankey and Major Whittle,
Major Cole, Dr. Pentecost, Mr. P. P. Bliss, Mr. George C..Stet?bins,
and others of that illustrious group who have gone down in history
as the builders of American Christian evangelism.

The group of evangelists and musicians who gathered about Mr.
Moody often met at our home in Lake View for conferences and
discussions.

Another family friend was Miss Frances E. Willard of Evanston,
Illinois, who was president of the National Women’s Christian Tem-
perance Union. Father had strong ideas on temperance. Once, in a
discussion with her on the subject, Father said he fervently believed
in it.

“Then why don’t you join us?” she asked.

“Because,” Father explained, “you advocate temperance and prac-
tice total abstinence.”

Not long before the Great Chicago Fire, at one of the Moody Noon
Prayer Meetings, Father prayed that God would “baptize us with the
Holy Spirit and Fire.” After the holocaust he received criticism.
When I heard about it, many years later, I remarked that at least his
critics gave Father credit that his prayers were answered.

My four “little sisters” loved Mr. Moody, and in later years the
great evangelist told of the time Annie and Maggie expressed their
wish to join the church. This was an unusual request for such young
children, and Mr. Moody thought them too young to understand. So
he took them aside and separately questioned them concerning the
dogmas of the church and their obligations as members of the Chris-
tian community.

Then he led them to the minister. “These children know more
than I do,” Mr. Moody said. “They are quite prepared to join.”

They were deeply religious little girls, but to them, as to my par-
ents, religion was a matter of joy and not of gloom, as was too often
the result of religious teachings in that day. They were happy chil-
dren, and lived a normal childhood.

They had their hair cut short; this was one of Father's idiosyn-
crasies, which the girls hated, because it made them peculiar and
unlike other children. I know from experience, for I, too, had short
hair, like an Eton crop, until I was ten years old. There is nothing a
child so hates as to be “different.” But Father thought it was sanitary,
cool, and less trouble, as modern people have come to realize. To
satisfy their craving for long hair they contrived to make wigs of
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some material, tied with bright rags to represent the coveted hair-
ribbons.

Their favorite game was acting bits of history, into which they drew
the neighbor children and Cousin Rob, when he was home from
boarding school during the holidays. In Father’s gifts of history
books, especially those of England and Scotland, they read about the
executions of so many of their favorite characters, Annie prayed one
night:

“Dear God, don’t let Maggie or me ever be queens, but only
princesses.”

Cousin Rob, as we called him, was Robert Eugene Lawrence,
Aunt Eureka’s son.

Eureka, Father’s sister, was born at the moment when my grand-
father’s spirit was exalted because of one of his discoveries. I always
understood that it was the fact that tomatoes were edible. He may
have tried the experiment on himself—it would have been like him—
and his elation was the greater because he had survived.

Aunt Eureka died in our home in Lake View in 1870, I think. On
her deathbed she implored Father and Mother to take Robert and
bring him up as their own. He was a brilliant boy and as close to
them as a son.

Also in this year 1870 Father made a four-months business trip
to the British Isles.

In his notebook are notes about the Franco-Prussian War, still
unsettled, and he ponders over “the striking incapacity of the French
people to allow 500,000 Prussians to completely subjugate all
France.”

He was impressed by the fact that Saturday was a half-holiday
in England, a custom which had not yet penetrated the United States,
and by the outspoken sincerity of the British press. He ordered
English newspapers and periodicals for his family and friends, and
bought many books. He met and admired the great English non-con-
formist preacher, Dr. Spurgeon.

In Edinburgh he met Professor Piazza Smith, FR.S.E., FRA.S,
Astronomer Royal for Scotland, a meeting that changed the destinies
of many people, including Father’s.

The British-Israelite theory—that the Anglo-Saxon people are
descendants of the lost tribes of Israel—was the topic of the hour in
religious circles and Dr. Smith was a leading apostle.

Dr. Smith and his wife had recently returned from Egypt, where
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for four months they had resided on Pyramid Hill at Geza. With a
variety of surveying and astronomical instruments Dr. Smith meas-
ured the Great Pyramid, using the inch. According to him each
measurement of the passages, chambers, and galleries indicated a
historical event or prophecy and elucidated many mysteries referred
to cryptically in the Bible.

Dr. Smith believed that Isaiah was referring to the Great Pyramid
when he said:

In that day shall there be an altar to the Lord in the midst of the land
of Egypt, and a pillar at the border thereof to the Lord.
And it shall be for a sign and for a witness unto the Lord of Hosts . .

Dr. Smith returned to Edinburgh convinced that the Great Pyra-
mid of Geza was built by divine inspiration, and that the world pos-
sessed in it a “monument of inspiration,” as it had long possessed
a “book of inspiration,” in the Bible. Academic archaeology, Dr.
Smith went on to say, did not accept his theory.

Such a study could lead into a labyrinth that has no end, but it
opened up a new vista to Father. This chance meeting with Dr. Smith
instilled in him an interest in the prophecies of the Old Testament
and the prophetic significance of the ancient pyramid. It was this,
I think, that largely influenced Father and Mother, after the founda-
tions of their lives had been shaken by tragedy, to turn to the Holy
Land and a study of its prophecies.

Years later Dr. Smith and his wife returned to the Holy Land and
visited Father and Mother. .

A short time after Father’s return Mr. Moody went to England
and Scotland, where his genius as an evangelist was fully recognized.
Nothing like the resultant revival wave had ever been known, and no
one born in Chicago can fail to be proud that it started there, in a
city too often made notorious.

In its wide sweep the revival caught up men as different as Henry
Morehouse, Professor Henry Drummond, James Keir Hardie, Dr.,
later Sir, Wilfred Grenfell, and C. T. Studd.

In London Mr. Moody addressed